IN THE

رين مور مور

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.

ROBERT ANTHONY PRESTON,

Appellant,

versus

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR SEMINOLE COUNTY, FLORIDA

SUMMARY INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARRY HELM SPALDING Capital Collateral Representative Florida Bar No. **0125540**

BILLY H. NOLAS Chief Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. **806821**

THOMAS H. DUNN Staff Attorney

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE 1533 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 487-4376

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

INTRODUCTION

THE COURT: [The jury] heard misinformation. There's no question about that.

MR. NOLAS: Has it been shown that it was misinformation? It has.

THE COURT: It has been.

(Transcript of March 26, 1990, hearing, p. 50).

THE COURT: I don't know whether it's harmless or not.

(<u>Id</u>. at 56).

а

The law says that if someone has committed an aggravating felony in the past, that's an indication that this person is going to do it again. The barrier that we all have about trying to injure people has been broken. He will repeat and do this again.

Another jury in this County has heard the Defendant. Another jury in this County has passed judgment on the Defendant, and the Defendant stands convicted of throwing a deadly missile at an occupied vehicle, and he was adjudicated guilty, and he was sentenced to six years in the Department of Offender Rehabilitation, and his conviction has been affirmed, and the judgment is now final, and it is an aggravating circumstance.

(Prosecutor's closing argument at original jury sentencing, R.

1993).

Would the result of the weighing process by both the jury and the judge have been different had the impermissible aggravating factor not been present? We cannot know. Since we cannot know and since a man's life is at stake, we are compelled to return this case to the trial court for a new sentencing trial at which [evidence on the impermissible aggravating factor] shall not be considered.

<u>Elledge v. State</u>, **346 SO.** 2d **998**, **1003** (Fla. **1977**) (emphasis added).

We cannot tell how this improper evidence and argument <u>may have affected the jury</u>. We therefore vacate Dougan's sentence and remand for another complete sentencing hearing before a new jury.

Dougan v. State, 470 So. 2d 697, 701 (Fla. 1985) (emphasis added).

Robert Preston's jury, a jury that heard significant mitigating evidence, voted 7-5 for death. The vote itself is telling, as is the record •• a record reflecting the substantial difficulty which the jury had in reaching a verdict. Following the completion of the sentencing phase instructions, the jury deliberated for some time, then sent two questions to the judge. First the jury asked: **"Is** it possible for a judge or parole board to give Mr. Preston credit for any years he has served in jail toward his 25 years for murder?" (R. 2032). Second, the jury asked: "There are five counts of which three are capital. Will they be served consecutively, 75 years, or concurrent, not more than 25 years?" (R. 2032). The jury's questions confirm what the jury vote showed •• that the jury was seriously considering the recommendation of a life sentence and was struggling during the deliberations.

But Mr. Preston's jury also heard the State present an argument for death which stressed that death was required because Mr. Preston had been convicted of a previous violent act, which stressed that that conviction was an important aggravating factor, which used that conviction to argue that Mr. Preston had a <u>propensity</u> for violence, which relied on that conviction to rebut the nonstatutory mitigating factor of no significant history of prior criminal activity, and which employed that conviction to undermine the compelling nonstatutory mitigating case for life

presented by Mr. Preston at the penalty phase. We now know that in Mr. Preston's case, as in Johnson v. Mississippi, 108 S. Ct. 1981 (1988), "the jury was allowed to consider evidence that has been revealed to be materially inaccurate." Id. at 1989. The prior conviction, and the prosecution's arguments thereon, should never have gone to the jury for, as discussed in Claim I of this brief, that conviction was invalid. Here, there is no question that this 7-5 jury was provided with "misinformation of constitutional magnitude," <u>United States v. Tucker</u>, 404 U.S. 443, 447 (1972); Johnson, <u>supra</u>, as the Rule 3.850 trial judge acknowledged at the March 26 hearing below.

By the time that the lower court drafted its order, however, the role of the jury completely dropped out of the trial court's In this, the lower court erred, as this Court's analysis. longstanding precedents plainly show: <u>Riley v. Wainwright</u>, 517 So. 2d 656, 657-59 (Fla. 1987) ("[A] new jury is required when the original jury recommendation is invalid); Menendez v. State, 419 So. 2d 312, 314 (Fla. 1982) (new jury sentencing appropriate where error at original sentencing trial concerned the instructions and evidence provided to the jury); Mikenas v. State, 407 So. 2d 892, 893 (Fla. 1981) (new jury sentencing appropriate where improper evidence provided to jury); Elledae v. State, 346 So. 2d at 1003 (same); Dougan v. State, 470 So. 2d at 701 (same): Teffeteller v. State, 439 So. 2d 840, 845 (Fla. 1983) (same, in a case involving improper argument presented to the jury by the State); Maggard v. State, 399 So. 2d 973, 977-78 (Fla. 1981)(same, in a case involving no mitigating factors). These precedents, grounded on

а

this Court's construction of Fla. Stat. section 921.141 that jury resentencing is required where improper evidence is introduced to the jury which may have affected its sentencing deliberations, should have controlled the lower court's disposition of this claim. And here the jury heard misinformation of a constitutional magnitude, in a case in which there was mitigation and in which the death vote was 7-5. All of the evidence used by the State to argue the prior violent felony aggravator and to argue propensity has been shown to be invalid. Cf, <u>Duest v</u>. Duaaer, 15 F.L.W. 41, 43 (Fla. 1990) ("[T]here is still a basis for the aggravating circumstance of prior conviction of a violent felony."). The lower court's order, an order which completely overlooks the jury's critical role and this Court's precedents discussing that role, is plainly erroneous. Mr. Preston's case is thus in the same posture as <u>Hall v. State</u>, 541 So. 2d 1125, 1128 (Fla. 1989), a case in which this Court made it plain that "it is of no significance that the trial judge stated that he would have imposed the death penalty in any event," because the real issue involves the effect of the error on the jury.

These issues are discussed in Claim I of this brief. At the outset, however, immediately below, we detail some of the precedents which should have governed the lower court's analysis, precedents which the trial court completely ignored, and precedents which mandated resentencing before a new jury because the unreliability of the original jury verdict is a given fact in this case -- a fact noted by the circuit court at the March 26, 1990 hearing but then ignored in the court's order. Resentencing before a jury is required in this case, unless this Honorable

Court is prepared to overturn its body of precedent concerning the role of the jury in a Florida capital sentencing proceeding and section 921.141 itself.

The standard of review for claims of error before a Florida capital sentencing jury have been long-settled by this Court:

This Court has long held that a Florida capital sentencing jury's recommendation is an integral part of the death sentencing process. Lamadaline v. State, 303 So.2d 17, 20 (Fla. 1974) (jury recommendation can be "critical factor" in determining whether or not death penalty should be imposed). Under <u>Tedder v. State</u>, 322 So.2d 908, 910 (Fla. 1975), a jury's recommendation of life must be given "great weight" by the sentencing judge. A recommendation of life may be overturned only if "the facts suggesting a sentence of death [are] so clear and convincing that virtually no reasonable person could differ." <u>Id</u>.

* * *

In Lucas v. State, 490 So.2d 943 (Fla. 1986), we held that there should be a complete new sentencing proceeding before a newly empaneled jury where the trial took place before this Court's decision in Sonser <u>v. State</u>, 365 So.2d 696 (Fla. 1978), <u>cert.</u> <u>denied</u>, 441 U.S. 956, 99 S.Ct. 2185, 60 L.Ed.2d 1060 (1979), which held that mitigating factors are not restricted to those listed in the statute. Our decision in <u>Lucas</u> was based upon a review of the record, which indicated that the trial judge

^{&#}x27;Here, Judge Davis, <u>never</u> ruled that he would have overridden a jury verdict of life. Nor could he have, as his comments at the March 26 hearing show. No such finding has been made by the trial court here, and thus that is not an issue before this Court. Just as significantly, the mitigation presented at sentencing certainly would have provided a reasonable basis for a recommendation of life which this jury all but made originally (<u>See</u> Claim I, <u>infra</u>). And, originally, the jury heard impassioned arguments for death which were grounded on "misinformation of constitutional magnitude." <u>Tucker; Johnson</u>.

instructed the jury **only** on the statutory mitigating circumstances. In reaching our conclusion, we noted that resentencing without the benefit of a new jury recommendation is not always error but that a new jury is required when the original jury recommendation is invalid. See Menendez v. State, 419 So.2d 312, 314 (Fla. 1982) (new jury recommedation not required where no error at original sentencing trial with regard to evidence and instructions to jury); Mikenas v. State, 407 So.2d 892, 893 (Fla. 1981), <u>cert. denied</u>, 456 U.S. 1011, 102 S.Ct. 2307, 73 L.Ed.2d 1308 (1982) (trial judge did not err in resentencing without further jury deliberations where evidence itself was not improper but only the manner in which it was considered by the court).

•``.

* * *

If the jury's recommendation, upon which the judge must rely, results from an unconstitutional procedure, then the entire sentencing process necessarily is tainted by that procedure.

<u>Riley v. Wainwright</u>, 517 So. 2d 656, 657-59 (Fla. 1987 , emphasis added).

The Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals has also acknowledged the pivotal role of the Florida sentencing jury:

> Second, it is argued that any errors committed during the sentencing phase were rendered harmless when the trial court (under remand from the Florida Supreme Court) resentenced Magill to death after a new hearing in 1981. Although the court in the 1981 hearing considered the nonstatutory evidence and, in fact, found one nonstatutory mitigating circumstance, the resentencing did not render harmless the <u>Lockett</u> error of the original sentencing proceeding.

> > * * *

[T]o hold that resentencing by the court cleanses the taint of the original proceeding would ignore the importance of the advisory jury to the Florida sentencing scheme.

* * *

We cannot hold that the subsequent resentencing by the court purged the taint of the original proceedings without infusing an unacceptable level of arbitrariness into the administration of the death penalty in Florida. The error can be cured only by a sentencing proceeding before a new advisory jury.

This result is not inconsistent with Spaziano v. Florida, 468 U.S. 447, 104 S.Ct. 3154, 82 L.Ed.2d 340 (1984), where the Court held that Florida's death penalty statute was constitutional even though the trial judge was permitted, in some instances, to override the jury's recommended sentence. Althoush Spaziano indicates that a state may allocate the sentencins power as it wishes between the judge and jury, it does not stand for the proposition that the state may arbitrarily alter this allocation as it applies to particular defendants. Under Florida law, a capital defendant is entitled to have a sentencins proceedins before a jury. A capital defendant is no less entitled to that advisory jury sentence merely because his original sentencins proceedins was infected by constitutional error. . . . Indeed, when the Florida Supreme Court in Magill remanded for resentencing without a jury, it did not believe that the penalty phase was tainted by consitutional error. The court merely remanded so that the trial court could amend its findings of fact in support of the death penalty. In contrast, when the Florida Supreme Court believes the sentencing proceeding is marred by serious error, it has remanded for resentencing by a new advisory In order to avoid the arbitrary jury. application of the death penalty in Florida, we hold that Magill cannot be resentenced to death unless a new advisory jury is empaneled to consider his penalty.

<u>Magill v. Dugger</u>, 824 F,2d 879, 894-95 (11th Cir. 1987)(footnote and citations omitted)(emphasis supplied). Applying this Court's standards, the Eleventh Circuit has also held:

e

In analyzing the role of the jury, however, we cannot operate in a vacuum. Rather, we must look to how the Supreme Court of Florida, the final interpreter of the death penalty statute, has characterized that role.

ين ج

8

* * *

A review of the case law shows that the Supreme Court of Florida has interpreted Section 921.141 as evincing a legislative intent that the sentencing jury play a significant role in the Florida capital sentencing scheme.

Mann v. Dugger, 844 F.2d 1446, 1450-51 (11th Cir. 1988)(in banc). After discussing the important impact under this Court's standards of a sentencing jury's verdict, the Eleventh Circuit's analysis of this Court's case law continued:

> In analyzing the role of the sentencing jury, the Supreme Court of Florida has apparently been influenced by a normative judgment that a jury recommendation of death carries great force in the mind of the trial judge. This judgment is most clearly reflected in cases where an error has occurred before the jury, but the trial judge indicates that his own sentencing decision is unaffected by the error. As a general matter, reviewing courts presume that trial judges exposed to error are capable of putting aside the error in reaching a given decision. The Supreme Court of Florida, however, has on occasion declined to apply this presumption in challenges to death sentences. For example, in Messer v. State, 330 So.2d 137 (1976), the trial court erroneously prevented the defendant from putting before the sentencing jury certain psychiatric reports as mitigating evidence. The jury recommended death and the trial judge imposed the death penalty. The supreme court vacated the sentence, even though the sentencing judge had stated that he had himself considered the reports before entering sentence. The supreme court took a similar approach in <u>Riley v. Wainwright</u>, 517 So.2d 565 (Fla.1987). There, the defendant presented at his sentencing hearing certain nonstatutory mitigating evidence. The trial court instructed the jury that it could consider statutory mitigating evidence, but said nothing about the jury's obligation under Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 586, 98 S.Ct.

2954, 57 L.Ed.2d 973 (1978), to consider nonstatutory mitigating evidence. The jury recommended death and the trial judge imposed the death penalty. In imposing the death sentence, the trial judge expressly stated that he had considered all evidence and testimony presented. On petition for writ of habeas corpus, the supreme court ordered the defendant resentenced. The court held that the jury had been precluded from considering nonstatutory mitigating evidence, and that the trial judge's consideration of that evidence had been "insufficient to cure the original infirm recommendation." Id. at 859 n. 1.

In light of the disposition of these cases, it would seem that the Supreme Court of Florida has recognized that a jury recommendation of death has a <u>sui generis</u> impact on the trial judge, an impact so powerful as to nullify the general presumption that a trial judge is capable of putting aside error. We do not find it surprising that the supreme court would make this kind of normative judgment. A jury recommendation of death is, after all, the final stage in an elaborate process whereby the community expresses its judgment regarding the appropriateness of a death sentence.

844 F,2d at 1453-54 (footnote omitted).

D –

The [Florida] supreme court's understanding of the jury's sentencing role is illustrated by the way it treats sentencing error. In cases where the trial court follows a jury recommendation of death, the supreme court will vacate the sentence and order resentencina before a new jury <u>_____if</u> it concludes that the proceedings before the original jury were tainted by error. Thus, the supreme court has vacated death sentences where the jury was presented with improper evidence, see Douaan v. State, 470 So.2d 697, 701 (Fla, 1985), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 475 U.S. 1098, 106 \$,Ct, 1499, 89 L,Ed.2d 900 (1986), <u>or was</u> subject to improper argument by the prosecutor, see Teffeteller v. State, 439 So,2d 840, 845 (Fla,1983), <u>cert. denied</u>, 465 U.S. 1074, 104 S.Ct. 1430, 79 L.Ed.2d 754 (1984). The supreme court has also vacated death sentences where the trial court gave the jury erroneous instructions on mitigating

circumstances or improperly limited the defendant in his presentation of evidence of mitigating circumstances. <u>See Thompson v.</u> <u>Duaaer</u>, 515 So.2d 173, 175 (Fla.1987); <u>Downs</u> <u>v. Duaaer</u>, 514 So.2d 1069, 1072 (Fla.1987); <u>Rilev v. Wainwright</u>, 517 So.2d 656, 659-60 (Fla.1987); <u>Valle v. State</u>, 502 So.2d 1225, 1226 (Fla.1987); <u>Floyd v. State</u>, 497 So.2d 1211, 1215-16 (Fla.1986); <u>Lucas v. State</u>, 490 So.2d 943, 946 (Fla.1986): <u>Simmons v. State</u>, 419 So.2d 316, 320 (Fla.1982); <u>Miller v.</u> <u>State</u>, 332 So.2d 65, 68 (Fla.1976). In these cases, the supreme court frequently focuses on how the error may have affected the jury's recommendation.

Id. at 1452 (emphasis supplied).2

 $\mathbf{r}_{1}^{\mathbf{s}}$

In light of the case law, we conclude that the Florida jury plays an important role in the Florida capital sentencing scheme. The case law reflects an interpretation of the death penalty statute that requires the trial court to give significant weight to the jury's recommendation, whether it be a recommendation of life imprisonment or a recommendation of death. The case law also reflects, we think, an insightful normative judgment that a jury recommendation of death has an inherently powerful impact on the trial judge.

Id. at 1454. In footnote 10 the Court also provided:

'Footnote 7 provided:

The Supreme Court of Florida has permitted resentencing without a jury where the error in the original proceeding related to the trial court's findings and did not affect the jury's recommendation. <u>See</u>, <u>e.q.</u>, <u>Menendez v. State</u>, 419 So.2d 312, 314 (Fla.1982); <u>Mikenas v. State</u>, 407 So.2d 892, 893 (Fla.1981), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 456 U.S. 1011, 102 S.Ct. 2307, 73 L.Ed.2d 1308 (1982); <u>Maqi</u>ll v. State, 386 So.2d 1188, 1191 (Fla. 1980), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 450 U.S. 927, 101 S.Ct. 1384, 67 L.Ed.2d 359 (1981): <u>Fleming v.</u> <u>State</u>, 374 So.2d 954, 959 (Fla. 1979).

Id. at 1452, n.7.

Florida could, if it so desired, administer a capital sentencing scheme in which the jury played no role. See Spaziano v. Florida, 468 U.S. 447, 465, 104 S.Ct. 3154, 3165, 82 L.Ed.2d 340 (19840("[T]here is no constitutional imperative that a jury have the responsibility of deciding whether the death sentence should be imposed."). The fact of the matter is. however, that under the existing scheme in Florida the jury does share in capital sentencing responsibility. Because the jury's recommendation is a critical factor in the ultimate sentencing decision. the jury's function. like the function of any capital sentencer, must be evaluated pursuant to eighth amendment standards. This court, in various contexts in federal habeas cases, has treated the Florida jury as if it were a sentencer for constitutional purposes. For example, in Jackson v. Dugger, 837 F.2d 1469 (11th Cir. 1988), we held that the eighth amendment is violated when a Florida sentencing jury is instructed that, once it finds the victim's murder to have been committed under aggravating circumstances, death is presumed to be the appropriate sentence.

Id. at 1454-55 n.10 (emphasis added). This Court's precedents uniformly confirm this analysis -- where invalid evidence is presented to a sentencing jury in Florida and that jury recommends death, resentencing before a jury is required, particularly where the defendant has presented some mitigation:

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