IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA



ROBERT A. PRESTON,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KELLIE A. NIELAN ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FL Bar #618550 210 N. Palmetto Avenue Suite 447 Daytona Beach, FL. 32114 (904) 238-4990

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

First, it is important to note that in Johnson, a new sentencing was not ordered, but the case was remanded to the Mississippi Supreme Court for further proceedings. The concurring opinion specifically stated that it would be left to that court to determine whether a new sentencing hearing had to be held or whether that court itself should decide the appropriate sentence without reference to the inadmissible evidence, thus undertaking to reweigh the two untainted aggravating circumstances against the mitigating circumstances. Id. at 1989. As such, there is nothing in Johnson to preclude a harmless error analysis.

The United States Supreme Court has now specifically addressed this issue, and held that it is constitutionally permissible for state appellate courts to reweigh the aggravating and mitigating evidence to uphold a jury-imposed death sentence that is based in part on an invalid or improperly defined aggravating circumstance, and also constitutionally permissible for the state appellate court to apply harmless-error analysis to the jury's consideration of the invalid aggravating circumstance. Clemons v. Mississippi, No. 88-6873 (March 28, 1990). In so holding, the court stated that the Mississippi court, as it had in other cases, asserted its authority under state law to decide for itself whether the death sentence was to be affirmed even though one of two aggravating circumstances upon which the jury had relied should not have been or was improperly presented to

the jury, and that it had no basis for disputing that interpretation of state law. The Court also specifically addressed a line of cases involving Florida's appellate review of death sentences, wherein it had determined that this court had properly upheld death sentences where an aggravating factor had been improperly found. <u>Clemons</u>, slip opinion at 6-10, 12-13.

Thus, it is clear under Clemons and existing Florida precedent that a harmless error analysis is constitutionally permissible where an aggravating factor found by the sentencer is later found inapplicable. This court, like the Mississippi court, has long held that a death sentence may be affirmed when an aggravating circumstance is eliminated if the court is convinced such elimination would not have resulted in a life sentence. Shriner v. State, 386 So.2d 525 (Fla. 1980); Ferguson v. State, 417 So.2d 639 (Fla. 1982); Kennedy v. State, 455 So.2d 351 (Fla. 1984); Duest v. State, 462 So,2d 446 (Fla. 1985); Duest v. Dugger, 15 F.L.W. S41 (Fla. January 18, 1990); See also pp. 27-28 infra. Consequently, the trial court correctly applied a harmless error analysis in the instant case. Indeed, there is no one in a better position to do so than the trial court judge who originally sentenced Preston, and his determination that the elimination of the prior violent felony conviction aggravating factor did not affect the outcome is thoroughly supported by the record.

Preston's death sentence was originally premised on the finding of four aggravating circumstances and nothing in

- 16 -

mitigation. <u>Preston</u>, 444 So.2d at 947. ⁶ Even with the aggravating circumstance relating to Preston's prior conviction stricken, two remain; the murder was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel, and Preston committed the murder immediately after he committed the crime of robbery and while he was engaged in the commission of the crime of kidnapping. First, the record amply demonstrates that the evidence of the prior conviction was not the determinative factor in the rejection of the mitigating factor of no substantial criminal history. As the trial court's order demonstrates, rejection of this factor was premised on Preston's self-admitted criminal history. Indeed, the bottle throwing incident is probably the least repugnant criminal incident in Preston's past!

Further, under Florida law, the weighing of aggravating factors is not merely a counting process. The record in the instant case demonstrates that the sentencer did not even want to consider Preston's prior conviction as an aggravating circumstance; thus it can be concluded that it was given minimal, if any, weight. During the sentencing proceeding, the following exchange took place:

 $^{^{6}\,}$ This court found on direct appeal that the aggravating factor cold, calculated and premeditated was not supported by the record.

^{&#}x27;Indeed, were it merely a counting process, an argument could be made that the one factor of after a robbery and during a kidnapping could be two factors, or could be the two factors of for pecuniary gain and during a kidnapping. Semantic games are unnecessary however, as it is clear that this one factor is entitled to great weight in imposing a death sentence.

The second aggravating circumstance, this aggravating circumstance is applicable. The Defendant has been previously, to this sentencing, been convicted of throwing a deadly missile, a bottle in an occupied vehicle in case 78-38-CFA. That conviction was affirmed in Preston vs. State, 390 So.2nd 712 by the Fifth District Court of Appeal on 1981.

As I previously indicated to you, the Supreme Court has interpreted that even subsequent crimes to be properly considered by the Court if there were convictions prior to the sentencing on the capital sentence.

The third aggravating circumstance --

THE COURT: Let me stop you before you go on to the third aggravation. You're going through the aggravations that are set forth in 921.1415?

MR. MOXLEY: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Sub 5? I don't think there's any question that he was convicted of a capital felony involving the use of threats, use of threat of violence to the person because, as I understand that case, it was throwing a deadly missile. That was what he was convicted on. But, you know, there are different degrees of violence or threats.

You understand what I'm talking about?

MR. MOXLEY: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: I don't know. Does that have any bearing when you have only one?

MR, MOXLEY: Your Honor --

THE COURT: One felony here that involved a throwing incident? I don't know. I think there was a bottle thrown. MR. MOXLEY: There was a bottle thrown.

THE COURT: A bottle or bottles?

MR, MOXLEY: A bottle.

THE COURT: At an occupied vehicle?

MR, MOXLEY: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Do you think that that...it falls within the category, but do you think that that was of sufficient violence that this is what the Court's speaking of here, what the statute is speaking to?

MR, MOXLEY: I think the Court can consider, even though the he aggravating circumstance is prima facie, applicable, the facts and circumstances of the offense. In I think both other words, the Defendant's version and the State's version, you can consider. I believe it's applicable because it I fits within previous violent felony convictions, but the weight that you assign it --

THE COURT: The weight?

MR. MOXLEY: -- I think would depend on the particular facts and circumstances of the case. <u>In other</u> words you may assign it not a great weight because of the bottle throwing.

THE COURT: The Court has discretion in considering it as an appravating circumstance, but then to put whatever weight the Court feels upon that one circumstance?

MR, MOXLEY: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: All right, sir. Proceed.

(R 2075-2077)(emphasis supplied). As such, Preston's prior conviction was hardly a decisive factor in the choice between life or death.

It is also important to remember that Preston had trotted out all of the facts underlying this conviction during the guilt phase, unlike <u>Johnson</u>, where there was no evidence concerning the alleged assault. As defense counsel argued:

> ...but I think you remember the testimony, and the only testimony in the case having to do with that offense involved, and Robert felt that he was about...he was in a dispute with this fellow, and he felt that the guy was running the car at him, and he threw a beer bottle at the car, and no one was injured. The windshield wasn't even broken.

> Now that doesn't exactly square with the way it sounds, a deadly missile at an occupied vehicle.

(R 2011).

This is important for two reasons. First, unlike <u>Johnson</u>, a distinction can be drawn between Preston's prior conviction and the conduct that gave rise to that conviction. As the <u>Johnson</u> Court noted, the prosecutor there repeatedly urged the sentencer (the jury) to give the prior conviction weight in connection with its assigned task of balancing aggravating and mitigating circumstances "one against the other". <u>Id</u>. at 1987. The Court further stated that even without that express argument, there was a possibility that the <u>sentencer's</u> belief that Johnson had been convicted of a prior felony was decisive in the choice between life or death. <u>Id</u>. As stated, there is no possibility in the instant case that the sentencer's belief that Preston had been convicted of a prior felony was decisive in the choice between life or death.

Further, the advisory jury in the instant case was not told to balance the aggravating and mitigating circumstances "one against the other," as was the sentencing jury in <u>Johnson</u>, nor, as Preston contends, was it told it must find an aggravating circumstance. Rather, it was instructed that it was to render an advisory sentence based on its determination as to whether sufficient aggravating circumstances existed to justify the imposition of the death penalty, and if so, whether mitigating circumstances existed to outweigh those aggravating circumstances (R 2026). The advisory jury was then instructed that one of the aggravating factors that it <u>may</u> consider was that Preston had previously been convicted of a felony involving the use of force to some person (R 2026).

The second reason it is important that Preston brought out all of the underlying facts of his prior conviction is that it does not render evidence of that prior conviction per <u>se</u> inadmissible, as was the case in <u>Johnson</u>, where the sentencer was not presented with any evidence describing the conduct. The advisory jury in the instant case was instructed that its advisory sentence should be based upon the evidence it heard during the guilt phase as well as the evidence that was presented during the penalty phase (R 2026). Thus, even if there was error in the instant case, it does not extend beyond the mere invalidation of an aggravating circumstance supported by evidence

- 21 -

that was otherwise admissible. <u>Id</u>. at 1989. <u>See also</u>, <u>Richardson v. Johnson</u>, 864 F.2d 1536, 1541-2 (11th Cir. 1989).

It is clear that the remaining aggravating factors carried much more weight than Preston's prior conviction, which carried little, if any weight. Considering the facts of this crime and the lack of mitigation, as well as the sentencer's own words regarding consideration of this as an aggravating factor, it is inconceivable that the bottle throwing incident affected the sentencer's decision as the order denying relief demonstrates. <u>See Edwards v. Scrogqy</u>, 849 F.2d 204 (5th Cir. 1989). Even without such factor, a sentence of death is clearly appropriate.

CLAIM II

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY FOUND CLAIMS TWO, THREE, FOUR, FIVE, SIX, AND NINE PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

In Claim Two, Preston contended that evidence uncovered since the trial demonstrated the materiality of the withheld "Marcus Morales" evidence and the magnitude of the constitutional violation engendered by the State's suppression of such evidence and other related, even more compelling evidence of Preston's factual innocence. This court has already addressed the subject matter of this claim in Preston's application for writ of error coram nobis, Preston v. State, 531 So.2d 154, 157-58 (Fla. 1988), so he is procedurally barred from further litigation of this issue. See Spaziano v. Duqger, 15 F.L.W. S151 (Fla. March 15, The reassertion of this claim constitutes an abuse of 1990). process. Bundy v. State, 538 So.2d 445 (Fla. 1989). Richardson State, 546 So.2d 1037 (Fla. 1989) provides no basis for v.

bringing this claim, as it merely holds that newly discovered evidence claims should now be brought on 3.850 and will no longer be cognizable in an application for writ of error coram nobis unless the defendant is no longer in custody. It certainly does not provide a means for flaunting Florida's well established procedural rules by permitting a defendant to raise such claim where it has already been addressed on an application for a writ of error coram nobis.

In Claim Three, Preston contended that keys bearing the name Marcus Morales were found in the ashtray of the victim's car, and although the defense made appropriate <u>Brady</u> requests, the name Marcus Morales was not contained in the state's witness lists and no reference to keys bearing that name was made in any of the discovery materials provided by the state. Preston made no further allegations as to appellate counsel. These claims have already been addressed by this court, <u>Preston v. State</u>, 528 So.2d 896 (Fla. 1988); <u>Preston v. State</u>, 531 So.2d 154 (Fla. 1988), so they are procedurally barred and the reassertion of them at this juncture constitutes an abuse of process. <u>Bundy</u>, <u>supra</u>.

In Claim Four, Preston contended that throughout the proceedings which resulted in his conviction and sentence of death the prosecution focused the jury's attention on the personal characteristics of the victim, and the impact of her death on her family, friends, and the community. This court has already found this claim procedurally barred as there was no objection below. <u>Preston v. State</u>, 531 So.2d 154, 160 (Fla.

- 23 -

1988). Consequently, it is procedurally barred and reassertion of it constitutes an abuse of process. <u>Bundy</u>, <u>supra</u>.

In Claim Five, Preston contended that the limiting construction of the aggravating factor heinous, atrocious, or cruel set forth in State v. Dixon, 283 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973) has not been applied consistently and was not applied in his case and the jury in his case was never apprised of such a limiting construction. This is a claim which could and should have been raised on direct appeal and is thus procedurally barred in postconviction proceedings. Adams v. State, 543 So.2d 1244 (Fla. 1989); Harich v. State, 542 So.2d 980 (Fla. 1989). Preston did in fact attack this factor on direct appeal and any argument on this issue could have been made at that time. See Jones v. Dugger, 533 So.2d 290 (Fla. 1988). Further, such claim is improperly raised in a successive motion for post-conviction relief and is procedurally barred as well by the two year time limitation set forth in Rule 3.850. Bundy, supra.

In any event, the claim is without merit, as <u>Maynard</u> does not affect Florida's sentencing procedure. <u>Clark v. Duqqer</u>, 15 F.L.W. S50 (Fla. February 2, 1990); <u>Smalley v. State</u>, 546 So.2d 720 (Fla. 1989); <u>Smith v. State</u>, 15 F.L.W. S81 (Fla. February 15, 1989). Further, the jury was informed of the limiting construction of this factor by both the prosecutor and defense counsel, (R 1994-95, 2012-13), and the trial court, which is presumed to know the construction of this factor, specifically found facts to support it, and the this court specifically found that those facts supported such finding. <u>See Bertolotti v.</u> Duqger, 883 F.2d 1503 (11th Cir. 1989).

- 24 -

In Claim Six, Preston contended that neither his jury nor sentencing judge applied a proper standard to the aggravating factor of cold, calculated and premeditated. This is an issue which could and should have been raised on direct appeal and is thus procedurally barred in post-conviction proceedings. <u>Correll</u> <u>v. State</u>, **15** F.L.W. **S147** (Fla. March **16**, **1990**). It is also improperly raised in a successive motion and beyond the two year time limitation set forth in Rule **3.850**. <u>Bundy</u>, <u>supra</u>. Even if the claim was cognizable, it is without merit, as the jury was never instructed as to this aggravating factor and the trial court's finding of it was found to be without record support on direct appeal, so it has no part in Preston's death sentence. See, Preston v. State, **444** So.2d **939**, **947** (Fla. **1984**).

In Claim Nine, Preston contended that the burden was shifted to him on the question of whether he should live or die, i.e., to establish that mitigating circumstances outweighed aggravating circumstances. This claim has already been found procedurally barred by this court as it could and should have been raised on direct appeal, had it been preserved below. <u>Preston v. State</u>, **531** So.2d **154**, **160** (Fla. **1988**). Reassertion of this claim constitutes an abuse of process. Bundy, supra.

CLAIM III

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DETERMINED THAT THE CLAIM PERTAINING TO THE PECUNIARY GAIN AGGRAVATOR WAS WITHOUT RECORD SUPPORT.

Preston contended that the jury did not receive instructions narrowing the pecuniary gain aggravating

- 25 -

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